FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/8/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/7/2025 12:44 PM

Case #: 1044399

No. 86102-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

YANJUN WU and RICHARD LU, wife and husband and the marital community comprised thereof; and DEMANACO, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioners,

VS.

APTLY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION, a Washington Corporation

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

William A. Kinsel, WSBA #18077
Attorney for Petitoners
Kinsel Law Offices, PLLC
2401 Fourth Avenue, Suite 850
Seattle, WA 98121
(206) 706-8148

A. Identity of Petitioners

Petitioners are Yanjun Wu and Richard Lu, wife and husband, and DeManaCo, LLC.

B. Decision

Petitioners seek review of Division I's 5/19/25 opinion in Aptly Technology Corp. v. Yunjun Wu, Ricard Lu and DeManaCo, LLC, No. 86102-6-I ("Decision"). This Petition for Review is timely given the Court of Appeals' July 8, 2025 Order Denying Motion to Publish, as filed by Respondent Aptly. RAP 13.4(a).

C. Issues Presented for Review

1. Is Lying Bad Faith Under the UTSA?

- Issue 1. Does lying under oath to avoid losing a claim under the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (UTSA) constitute bad faith for purposes of a fee award under RCW 19.108.040?
- Issue 2. Is the appellate court free to substitute its own findings on the credibility of a witness for that of the trial court judge who presided over a multi-day bench trial?

2. Is a Party Permitted to Recover Lost Profits Based on Speculative Evidence?

Issue 3. Is the Best Evidence Rule for proof of lost profits under Larsen v. Walton Plywood Co., 65 Wn.2d 1, 390 P.2d 677 (1694) satisfied when a claimant relies on evidence of its most-profitable contracts for the measure of damages under a different, less-profitable contract?

D. Statement of the Case

1. Background

Aptly is owned by Xingsuo (Rosa) Li ("Li"). Aptly provided services to Microsoft in connection with the Bing Answers and Bing Knowledge Card projects. CP842, ¶1.

Petitioner Juni Wu ("Wu") is married to Richard Lu ("Lu"). CP842, ¶2. DeManaCo is owned by Lu and Xiaoou (Olivia) Wang ("Wang"). DeManaCo provided services to Microsoft on the Bing Knowledge Card project and, through Biblioso Corporation, indirectly on the Bing Answers project. CP842, ¶3.

Aptly, Biblioso, DeManaCo and other vendors of contract workers (aka "resources") receive business from Microsoft in different ways. Microsoft typically engaged such companies under a Staffing Engagement where Microsoft interviewed, approved and supervised the individuals performing the work. Under a Staffing Engagement, an individual could work for Microsoft between 18-21 months but then must stop working for six months. Microsoft also hired vendors through Managed Services Contracts. Under a Managed Services Contract, a company like Aptly could provide five or more workers on a project, to be managed by Aptly rather than Microsoft. Those individuals could remain on the project through the end of the Managed Services Contract, which are typically three-years. CP842-3, partial ¶6.

Wu began working for Aptly as Vice President of Business Development in August 2019. CP843-4, ¶9.

It was Aptly's goal to obtain a Managed Services

Contract for as many projects as possible. In March 2020, Li

and Wu sent a slide deck proposal for the same for the Bing Answers project to Microsoft manager Jitu Keshri (Ex. 39). Wu made the presentation to Mr. Keshri, who declined the proposal and explained Microsoft was not yet ready for such an agreement on the project with Aptly. Keshri later changed roles and left the Bing Answers project. Hu (Hunk) Chen took over those management responsibilities. CP845, ¶14.

2. Aptly's Alleged Trade Secrets Under the UTSA

Sometime in the Fall of 2020, Lu and Wang (who at the time was an employee of Biblioso) decided to form DeManaCo. Wu testified that she attended at least one meeting with Lu and Wang concerning DeManaCo's formation. A number of trial exhibits show that Wu sent certain documents from Aptly to Wang that appear to be associated with starting a company. CP845, ¶15.

Li testified that Exhibit 303, for example, is a file containing Aptly's gross margin calculator. The information in Exhibit 303 is almost entirely ascertainable from public records.

The trial court found that Exhibit 303 was not a secret. CP845-6, ¶16.

Exhibit 304 is another example of information Wu sent from Aptly to Wang, which contained a "step by step" document concerning how to create a Bing Knowledge Card. The testimony established the template was created and owned by Microsoft and made available to suppliers or prospective suppliers on the project. The evidence did not establish the "step by step" document to be a trade secret of Aptly. Instead, it was Microsoft's property that it did not keep secret. It was shared with possible vendors and used with open source software. Only Li testified it was Aptly's trade secret. All Microsoft witnesses testified that it was Microsoft's property and not kept secret. CP846, ¶17.

Additional unchallenged Findings include:

Supplemental FF 34. The Defendants moved for an award of attorneys' fees, costs and expenses under the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (UTSA), RCW 19.108.040 and RCW 49.62.080. Trial Exhibit 304, which is bates stamped DEM 53293 through DEM 53299, was also attached as Exhibit 9 to the

Declaration of Bryan Graff in Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. (Docket 154) In paragraph 3 of the Declaration of Xingsuo ("Rosa') Li in Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment (Docket 153), Ms. Li testified that "[t]his is a 'step by step' design template that Aptly created and used in its design process working on the Bing Knowledge Card project for Microsoft."¹ Ms. Li's declaration testimony about Aptly's alleged creation of this "step by step" design template was an essential piece of evidence that led to the Court denying the Defendants' motion for summary judgment on this issue, thereby causing that claim under the UTSA to go to trial.

Supplemental FF 35. At trial, the evidence established that Trial Exhibit 304 was created by, and was the property of Microsoft, not Aptly, and that the template depicted by Trial Exhibit 304 was not treated by Microsoft with any steps to keep it secret. In fact, Microsoft sent it to potential vendors to submit proposed work in order to see if they could perform under the parameters required by Microsoft. All witnesses so testified except Ms. Rosa Li, who continued to contend in her trial testimony that Trial Exhibit 304 was Aptly's trade secret. Based on Ms. Li's ownership of and position within Aptly, the Court finds that Rosa Li knew that Aptly had not created the "step by step" design template portrayed by Trial Exhibit 304. Thus, there was no factual basis for Aptly's or Rosa Li's claim that Trial Exhibit 304 was Aptly's trade secret, or for Aptly's claim that Defendants had misappropriated a trade secret when Juni Wu sent Trial Exhibit 304 to Xiaoou (Olivia) Wang.

¹ CP280, ¶3.

(CP1170.) Judge Rogers reiterated these findings in his order denying Aptly's motion for reconsideration of the UTSA attorneys' fee award in DeManaCo's favor, adding in his handwriting that "[t]here was credible evidence that Microsoft did not keep the template confidential – moreover it was never Aptly's product –as testimony originally suggested. This is the same finding made at earlier proceedings." CP1199.

Next, based on these unchallenged Findings of Fact, the trial court entered Supplemental Conclusion of Law 23:

The Court concludes that Aptly's, and specifically its owner Rosa Li's, testimony that Trial Exhibit 304 was a trade secret of Aptly was made in bad faith because there was no factual basis to support that claim. The Court also concludes that the Defendants have established their entitlement to an award of attorney's fees under RCW 19.108.040 for having to defend against that claim.

(C1174.)

3. Bing Answers Managed Services Contract

In or around September 2020, Chen told Wu that

Microsoft was looking for more resources for Bing Answers.

As mentioned, Aptly had already unsuccessfully pitched a

Managed Services Contract for the project. According to Chen, Wu initially said she would look into it and look for staffing, but then Wu recommended Biblioso for the Managed Services Contract. Wu also introduced Chen to the president of Biblioso. Chen testified that after Wu's introduction, Biblioso made a proposal to Microsoft for a Managed Services Contract on the Bing Answers project. Microsoft accepted Biblioso's proposal and Biblioso's Managed Services Contract on the project took effect in early January 2021. CP847, ¶20. Wu resigned from Aptly on or about March 10, 2021. CP847-8, ¶20.

The Court found that had Wu not steered the Managed Services Contract away from Aptly and to Biblioso, it is more probable than not that Aptly would have received the Managed Services Contract with Microsoft. CP848, ¶23.

4. Aptly's Historical Profits Under Staffing
Engagements Do Not Provide Competent Proof
of Lost Profits Under Managed Services
Contracts

The trial court included within its FF6, at CP843, 11.11-13, the following underlined statement:

For reasons discussed in the evidence, managed service engagements are <u>more lucrative for</u> and sought after or preferred by vendor companies like Aptly. Microsoft also prefers managed service engagements from time-to-time and where appropriate.

(Emphasis added.) This Finding rests on speculative evidence.

Li, owner of Aptly, testified in very general terms about the difference between Staffing Engagements and Managed Services Contracts at VRP1, pp.61-63. People (i.e., "resources") employed by Microsoft under a Staffing Engagement through a vendor like Aptly are directly interviewed by, work with and report to Microsoft personnel. Those resources face the significant limitation of being allowed to work for Microsoft for only 18 months, when they must be terminated and "take off" six months before being eligible to work again. <u>Id.</u>, pp.61-62.

By comparison, Li testified that with Managed Services

Contracts Aptly organizes the manpower and delivers the work.

[W]e can provide, uh, various human resources and business models. For example, we can actually grab the manpower from China or India, offshore, and where the costs can be significantly lowered. And in the meantime, our profit can go up, and where it will look really good.

VRP1, pp.62-63, emphasis added.² Since Aptly's arrangement on the Bing Answer project was a Staffing Engagement (VRP1, p.60) that had more than five resources, Aptly was in the position in March 2020 to make the managed service proposal found at Exhibit 39, as discussed by Li. VRP1, pp.65-68.

What this testimony does not explain is why, given that Aptly had seven Managed Services Contracts under its belt by the time of Li's testimony (VRP1, p.63), that Aptly did not use at trial its profit experience with Managed Services Contracts

² The word "can" denotes a mere possibility, constitutes speculation, and does not satisfy the more-probable-than-not standard. On page 2 of the Decision, fn.1, the appellate court incorrectly states that "[s]everal witnesses testified that managed service engagements are more profitable—and thus more desirable—than Staffing Engagements." Managed Services Contracts are clearly more profitable for Microsoft because it pays half the hourly rate for the same amount of labor. Only Li addressed the issue from a vendor standpoint, with Aptly's expert relying on her testimony to assume that vendor profits under a Staffing Engagement would be the same as under a Managed Services Contract. VRP7, pp.759-760.

as the best evidence to calculate its expected lost profits, instead choosing to make its damages pitch based solely on the gross revenues lost from Staffing Engagement contracts.³

The answer is simple: the gross revenue earned per "resource" on a Staffing Engagement where the contract employees work on site at Microsoft is \$85.00 an hour. Exhibit 39, p.6, (onsite, right, bottom row), p.12, (\$85 hourly rate).) By contrast it is half that, or \$42.50 per hour, for offshore Managed Services Contract employees. Exhibit 278, p.2, bottom chart listing hourly rate of \$42.50 for offshore resources and \$85 for onshore resources; Wang, VRP8, pp.955-956, 967, Exhibit 480, p.3; Lu, VRP12, p.1295 (two offshore to one onshore resource cost ratio for Managed Services versus Staffing Engagement).

³ Aptly's expert Van Zandt admitted that his analytical "starting point is ultimately determining what's the difference on the revenue level between what would be expected but-for the circumstances that caused this economic damaging event and the actual revenue that had been received after that date." VRP7, p.745, ll.16-22.

The math easily demonstrates the fallacy of Li's testimony about the lucrative nature of the Managed Services Contracts. Using the example from Exhibit 278 of 173.3 work hours each month, an on-site Staffing Engagement employee produces gross revenues of \$85 X 173.3 = \$14,731 per month, while it takes two off-shore, Managed Services Contract resources to generate the same revenues. So on its face, Aptly's five Staffing Engagement employees were generating annual revenues of 5 times 12 months times \$14,731, or \$883,860, while the Managed Services Contract produces only half that, or \$441,930.00. This makes Aptly's theoretical lost profits from a Managed Services Contract equal 26.2% times \$441,930 or \$115,785, which is half that of a Staffing Engagement. In sum, the trial court's FF6, at CP843, and the appellate court's footnote 1 on p.2 of the Decision, that Managed Services Contracts are more lucrative than Staffing Engagements is not supported by substantial evidence.

E. Argument

- 1. Review of the UTSA Issues Should Be Accepted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4)
 - a. Lying to Avoid Dismissal on Summary
 Judgment Constitutes Bad Faith Under
 the USTA

It is an uncomfortable thing to call someone a liar, but

the definition of "a lie" is quite straightforward:

A false statement deliberately presented as being true; falsehood.

The American Heritage Dictionary, Second College Edition.

And, as the trier of fact (Judge Rogers) found in Supplemental

FF#s 34-35:

.... Ms. Li testified that "[t]his is a 'step by step' design template that Aptly created and used in its design process working on the Bing Knowledge Card project for Microsoft." . . .

.... Based on Ms. Li's ownership of and position within Aptly, the Court finds that Rosa Li knew that Aptly had not created the "step by step" design template portrayed by Trial Exhibit 304. Thus, there was no factual basis for Aptly's or Rosa Li's claim that Trial Exhibit 304 was Aptly's trade secret, or for Aptly's claim that Defendants had misappropriated a trade secret when

Juni Wu sent Trial Exhibit 304 to Xiaoou (Olivia) Wang.

CP1170. While Judge Rogers' findings took more words than the dictionary definition of a lie, there is no avoiding the conclusion that the trial court concluded that Li lied to avoid dismissal of Aptly's UTSA claim, and that based on that finding, she and Aptly had acted in bad faith. Supplemental CL 23, CP1174.

b. The Court of Appeals Erred by
Substituting its Assessment of the
Evidence for that of the Trier of Fact

The underlying facts are verities on appeal, and so is the trial court's credibility finding. Wells v. Employment Sec.

Dept. of State of Wash., 61 Wn.App. 306, 314 n. 8, 809 P.2d

1386 (1991); State v. Teshome, 122 Wn.App. 705, 715, 94 P.3d

1004 (2004), petition for review denied 153 Wn.2d 1028 (2005)

("Credibility determinations are within the province of the trier of fact and may not be reviewed on appeal.").

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals recognized and attempted to apply the above standards, citing for instance

Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co., 66 Wn.App. 510, 526, 832

P.2d 537 (1992) for the principle that "[w]here there is conflicting evidence, it is not the role of the appellate court to weigh and evaluate the evidence." Decision, p.4. The appellate court reiterated these principles on p.5 of the Decision, but in doing so made a fundamental error:

"Questions of credibility are left to the trier of fact and will not be overturned on appeal." State v. Boot, 89 Wn.App. 780, 791, 950 P.2d 964 (1998). Moreover, in conducting our review, we view the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, here Aptly. Scott's Excavating Vancouver, LLC v. Winlock Props., LLC, 176 Wn.App. 335, 342, 308 P.3d 791 (2013).

(Bold emphasis added.) The Court of Appeals' error is seen in the bolded text because **Petitioners** were the prevailing parties on Aptly's UTSA claim.

Yet, at pages 11-15 of the Decision, the Court of Appeals acted on its error by repeatedly viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Aptly—the losing party under the UTSA—to change the finding that Rosa Li lied to the detriment

of the prevailing Petitioners. The Court of Appeals effectively acknowledges this on page 13 of its Decision:

Addressing this issue, the trial court explained at the hearing on Defendants' motion for attorney fees that Li "must have known" exhibit 304 was not a trade secret because the step-by-step template "belonged" to Microsoft. Even so, Aptly's claim was not intentionally frivolous as required to establish bad faith. To the contrary, Li testified at trial that Microsoft and Aptly each contributed to the development of the template.

As the bolded text demonstrates, the appellate court chose to supplant its interpretation of Li's testimony for Judge Rogers' credibility and factual findings.

The hearing referenced above by the appellate court occurred on 5/5/23. Judge Rogers did indeed go into great detail at pages 17-18 of that hearing transcript to explain the bases for his credibility determination that Li did what the dictionary defines as a lie. While the entirety of his ruling needs to be reviewed within the Appendix, highlights include:

[T[he evidence that [Exhibit 304] was a trade secret for Aptly--and I want to stress that was the original claim--really rested solely on the testimony

of Rosa Lee. The defense moved for summary judgment just before the trial began, and Rosa Lee testified in her declaration of December 29th, 2022, that the trial exhibit was an Aptly trade secret. That's paragraph 3 of her declaration. And partly because of this testimony, I denied summary judgment[.]

5/5/23 Transcript, p.17, ll.12-19.

But at trial, the evidence from every other witness, including Microsoft employees, was that 304 was actually a Microsoft project, and it was a trade secret, I guess, but Microsoft didn't keep it much of a secret. It freely gave it to any contractor willing to compete to create knowledge cards or other products.

<u>Id.</u>, p.17, 1.22-p.18, 1.3.

Given Ms. Lee's position as president, her extensive experience and knowledge of projects, I concluded that when she testified that Exhibit No. 304 was an Aptly trade secret, she must have known that the opposite was the truth. It was Microsoft's trade secret if it was anyone's trade secret. I want to be clear, I see no evidence to indicate that Aptly's counsel expected this. In fact, I think it was a surprise when that actually finally came out through Microsoft employees, Ms. Lee alone. But I find that it was without basis to claim that Exhibit No. 304 was an Aptly trade secret, so I award partial attorneys fees to the defense for addressing this at trial.

Id., p.18, ll.6-18. This was no passing reference by a trial court that a Court of Appeals is at liberty to choose to override, but a detailed explanation for why Judge Rogers concluded Li lied. By overruling Judge Rogers, the Court of Appeals erred by disregarding long standing rules on appellate review, justifying review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2).

c. Unless Addressed by This Court, the Decision Threatens to Warp the Law on Bad Faith Under Washington's UTSA

While the Decision was not published, the Court of Appeals seriously considered Aptly's motion to do the same and required a response from the Petitioners. (6/12/25 Order Calling for an Answer.) Unpublished decisions are, however, easily found and routinely cited pursuant to GR 14.1.

As observed by Petitioners in their response, bad faith takes many forms, with the "failure" of the Washington State Legislature to provide a definition of that phrase in RCW19.108.010 actually empowering the courts with the discretion to police such conduct in whatever form it may

appear. As appellate courts generally recognize, the trial court is in the best position to identify such conduct given the inherently factual nature of the inquiry. Here, Aptly wanted to publish a decision holding that a party can lie to support its UTSA claim without being found to have acted in bad faith.

Superior Court Judge Jim Rogers disagreed. He was personally led to deny a motion for summary judgment by what he found after trial to have been intentionally-false testimony provided by Aptly's owner to support her company's UTSA claim. (5/5/23 Transcript, pp.17-18.) As a result, he exercised his discretion to hold Li's, and thus Aptly's testimony to constitute bad faith for purposes of RCW 19.108.040. He did so properly and correctly, in a manner completely consistent with CR 56(g), "Affidavits Made in Bad Faith."

In reversing Judge Rogers, the appellate court improperly weighed the evidence in the losing party's favor and said:

Aptly also made a colorable argument in support of its misappropriation claim based on federal authority, which recognizes such a claim even when the asserted trade secret was created by a third party. In support of this argument, Aptly cited <u>DTM</u> Research, L.L.C. v. AT&T Corp., 245 F.3d 327, 333 (4th Cir. 2001), which holds that if a claimant possesses confidential information belonging to a third party and both parties "have undertaken to maintain its secrecy, the information might well still have value and therefore satisfy the definition of a trade secret."

Decision, p.14. Judge Rogers, however, explicitly rejected this argument, observing that Microsoft did <u>not</u> undertake to maintain Exhibit 304's secrecy, not only at 5/5/23 Transcript, p.18, ll.6-18, but also at length at p.20, l.15-p.21, l.11, in response to Aptly's argument at p.19-p.20, l.14. Just as importantly, Judge Rogers observed that Li's original argument was not that Exhibit 304 was Microsoft's trade secret, to which Aptly also had rights ala <u>DTM Research</u>, but rather "304 was an Aptly developed trade secret." 5/5/23 Transcript, p.17, 11.12-21. In other words, Li was relying on <u>DTM Research</u> as an after-the-fact justification of her bad faith conduct. The appellate court erroneously fell for that gambit.

In its successful arguments to the Court of Appeals,
Aptly presented an analysis of a widely-cited standard for
assessing bad faith under the UTSA first announced in
California. In doing so, Aptly analyzes numerous cases citing
that standard, but <u>not</u> the leading case that actually created it.
In that manner, Aptly managed to avoid the hard truth that the
cited objective/subjective standard for bad faith is merely a tool
to be used in the more common cases that do not contain the
obvious signs of bad faith found in a perjured declaration.

The lead decision for this line is <u>Gemini Aluminum Corp</u>

<u>v. California Custom Shapes, Inc.</u>, 95 Cal.Ap.4th 1249, 1250

(2002). In considering what constitutes bad faith under the

UTSA, the <u>Gemini Court referenced an unpublished federal</u>

decision:

Stilwell Development, Inc. v. Chen (C.D.Cal. Apr. 25, 1989, No. CV86 4487 GHK) 1989 U.S. Dist. Lexis 5971 (Stilwell), a federal court [which noted that] the legislative history of section 3426.4 shows it is intended to "allow[] a court to award reasonable attorney fees to a prevailing party in specified circumstances as a *deterrent* to *specious* claims of misappropriation'

Gemini, at p.1261. "The *Stilwell* court interpreted "bad faith" under section 3426.4 to require objective speciousness of the plaintiff's claim and its subjective misconduct in bringing or maintaining a claim for misappropriation of trade secrets." <u>Id.</u>, 1261-62.

In discussing the subjective aspect of this analysis, the Gemini observed that:

The timing of Gemini's action also raises an inference of subjective bad faith. "Good faith, or its absence, involves a factual inquiry into the plaintiff's subjective state of mind [citations]: Did he or she believe the action was valid? What was his or her intent or purpose in pursuing it? A subjective state of mind will rarely be susceptible of direct proof; usually the trial court will be required to infer it from circumstantial evidence." [Cite omitted.] " '[B]ad faith' means simply that the action or tactic is being pursued for an improper motive. Thus, if the court determines that a party had acted with the intention of causing unnecessary delay, or for the sole purpose of harassing the opposing side, the improper motive has been found, and the court's inquiry need go no further.' [Cite omitted.]

Gemini, 95 Cal.App.4th at 1263 (emphasis added).

Put differently, when there is no direct proof of a party's state of mind, the trial court needs to ask the questions and

explore the nonexclusive list of indicators of improper motive listed in <u>Gemini</u>. However, when as here there is <u>direct proof</u> of Li's improper motive via her <u>knowingly</u> false testimony about Aptly's alleged creation and ownership of Microsoft's "Step-by-Step" software tool, there is no need to ask the question "did Rosa Li believe the action was valid" because we know from Judge Rogers' findings that she did not believe her own testimony to be true. Necessarily, then, Aptly was acting in bad faith. CR 56(g).

As Judge Rogers observed at pp.15-16 of his 5/5/23 ruling, "bad faith" is "really poorly defined" in the State of Washington. Judge Rogers was correct in exercising his discretion to conclude that lying in a sworn declaration constitutes bad faith for purposes of RCW 19.108.040.

Because the Decision creates dangerous precedent—even if unpublished—that lying is <u>not</u> sufficient for such a finding, the Washington Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to address a recurring issue of not only state-wide

importance, but also of national significance given the *uniform* origin of the UTSA.

2. The Decision Repudiates the Underlying Lessons of <u>Larsen</u> on the Best Evidence Rule

This Court should accept review of the lost profits award to Aptly under RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(4) because of fundamental questions about the burden of proof born by a claimant in such a case, and because as applied here, both the trial and appellate court are permitting such an award under circumstances that dilute the Best Evidence Rule to the point where it is virtually meaningless.

To recover for a breach of contract, a plaintiff must prove it suffered damages that were proximately caused by the alleged breach. NW Independent Forest Mfrs. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 78 Wn.App. 707, 712, 899 P.2d 6 (1995). The same applies to tort claims. Weisert v. University Hosp., 44 Wn.App. 167, 173, 721 P.2d 553 (1986). When a party's alleged damages are lost profits:

they are properly recoverable as damages when (1) they are within the contemplation of the parties at the time the contract was made, (2) they are the proximate result of defendant's breach, and (3) they are proven with reasonable certainty.

Larsen v. Walton Plywood Co., 65 Wn.2d 1, 15, 390 P.2d 677 (1964). As in Larsen, the focus here is on (3), for Aptly failed to prove lost profits "with reasonable certainty or conversely, damages which are remote and speculative cannot be recovered." Id., at p.16.

The appellate court addresses Petitioners' argument related to <u>Larsen</u> in some depth at Decision pp.8-13. That court failed to comprehend the flaws in the evidence presented by Aptly, however, because on page 9 it uncritically wrote that "the trial court relied on historical profits and expert testimony—the two types of evidence <u>Larsen</u> characterizes as 'best.'"

What both the appellate and trial courts failed to recognize was that Aptly relied on inapplicable historical profits from a <u>Staffing Engagement</u>, which produced gross revenues of

\$85 per hour per contractor, to "prove" its lost profits under the entirely-different Managed Services Contract, that produced gross revenues at the rate of \$42.50 per hour. Aptly did this even though Larsen requires that the "Plaintiff must produce the best evidence available", id. at 16, and even though Aptly had seven Managed Services Contracts under its belt by the time of Li's testimony upon which to base a truthful presentation of its alleged lost profits. (VRP1, p.63.) Aptly did this—or rather failed to do what it was supposed to do—even though it had Exhibit 100 available to it, which demonstrated that DeManaCo was working under the Bing Answers contract at that \$42.50 per hour rate.

The Court of Appeals attempts to distinguish this situation at Decision p.10 be saying that in <u>Larsen</u> the award based on the experts testimony was reduced, at 65 Wn. at 19-21, because it was based on hypothetical sales of high-profit specialty items that had never been achieved, while Aptly relied on historical profits data. The reality, however, is that Aptly

Engagement, when it could never achieve such profits under the Managed Services Contract model. To put it bluntly, Aptly relied on evidence of lost profits that was false on its face, by contrast to Larsen's experts, who merely engaged in hopeful speculation. Unfortunately, in this regard Aptly's behavior is entirely consistent with Li's knowingly-false testimony regarding her company's alleged trade secrets. This Court should accordingly accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(4) and either remand for a new trial, as offered in Larsen at p.21, or alternatively offer a remitted judgment in the amount of \$162,003.42 as calculated at Brief of Appellants, pp.61-69.

3. Petitioners Should Be Awarded Fees on Appeal

Given the appellate court's reversal of Petitioner's attorney fee award under the UTSA, the concluding section of the Decision at p.15 denying Petitioner's their fees on appeal seems like dicta, dicta which was particularly unnecessary given Petitioner's briefing requesting fees at Brief of

Appellants, pp.69-70. Petitioners accordingly reiterate their request for attorney fees on appeal pursuant to RCW 19.108.040 because, as Judge Rogers found, Aptly's claim of misappropriation of the trade secrets allegedly encompassed by Exhibit 304 was made in bad faith.

F. Conclusion

Petitioners ask the Court to accept review of and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision on the meaning of bad faith for purposes of awarding attorneys' fees under RCW 19.108.040 pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2) because the appellate court improperly reversed the trial court's credibility determinations and findings of fact. Petitioner further requests review and reversal of the same under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because lying under oath to preserve a baseless trade secret claim simply <u>must</u> be bad faith for the sake of a morally-sound UTSA.

Finally, Petitioners ask this Court to accept review and reverse the Decision with respect to the lost profits award under

RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(4) to preserve the ongoing relevance and validity of <u>Larsen</u> and the Best Evidence Rule.

I hereby certify that this Petition contains 4,994 words in compliance with RAP 18.17.