# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/8/2025 3:36 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 1044399

Court of Appeals, Div. I No. 861026

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

YANJUN WU AND RICHARD LU, wife and husband, and the marital community comprised thereof; and DEMANACO, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioners,

V.

APTLY TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION, a Washington corporation

Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN, SWANSON & CLEVELAND, PLLC Bryan C. Graff, WSBA #38553 401 Union Street, Suite 1500 Seattle, Washington 98101-2668 (206) 464-4224 graff@ryanlaw.com Attorneys for Respondent

#### **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Court should deny the Petitioners' Petition for Review. None of the considerations governing review are met in this case. *See* RAP 13.4(b).

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Yanjun Wu ("Wu") is a former employee of Aptly Technology Corporation ("Aptly") who breached her contract with Aptly and her duty of loyalty. Wu tortiously interfered with Aptly's business expectancy with Microsoft and diverted a significant project to Petitioner DeManaCo, LLC ("DeManaCo") a company co-owned by her husband, Petitioner Richard Lu ("Lu").

Following a lengthy bench trial, Petitioners appealed a judgment against them for breach of contract and tortious interference. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed Aptly's judgment against Petitioners. (*See* Appx. 1.) The Court of Appeals also properly reversed the trial court's award of attorneys' fees to Petitioners under RCW 19.108.040 because

Aptly did not make its misappropriation of trade secret claim in bad faith. (*See* Appx. 1 at 11-15.) This Court should deny Petitioner's Petition for Review.

#### III. ARGUMENT

### A. The Court of Appeals' Opinion is Not in Conflict with a Decision of this Court.

The only decision of this Court cited by Petitioners is Larsen v. Walton Plywood Co., 65 Wn.2d 1, 390 P.2d 677 (1964). (See generally Pet. for Review.) The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion in this case is not in conflict with Larsen. (See Appx. 1 at 8-10.)

While *Larsen* makes reference to use of the "best evidence available" to establish lost profits, the Petitioners take the Court's reference entirely out of context. In *Larsen*, the Court stated:

A measuring stick whereby damages may be assessed within the demarcation of reasonable certainty, is sometimes difficult to find. Plaintiff must produce the best evidence available and if it is sufficient to afford a reasonable basis for estimating his loss, he is not to be denied a substantial recovery because the amount of the damage is incapable of exact ascertainment.

Larsen, 65 Wn.2d at 16. Lost profits analyses in Washington are not an exact science, but rather damages must "be established with reasonable certainty." *Tiegs v. Watts*, 135 Wn.2d 1, 18, 954 P.2d 877 (1998). *Larsen* is less a directive to courts of what evidence must be presented, and more a recognition that as long as parties present evidence which provides "a reasonable basis for estimating" the loss, a party should not be denied recovery.

In *Tiegs v. Watts*, the Court stated:

Lost profits cannot be recovered when they are speculative, uncertain and conjectural. Lost profits will not be denied where factual data is presented as a basis for computing probable losses. The usual method for proving lost profits is to establish profit history. Respondents Tiegs and Olberdings are experienced commercial potato farmers. Their testimony and exhibits provided a reasonably certain basis upon which the jury could use lost profits as a measure of damages.

135 Wn.2d 1, 18, 954 P.2d 877 (1998).

Here, the trial court concluded that lost profits were the appropriate measure of damages and that Aptly had proved those damages with a reasonable degree of certainty through

documentary evidence and the testimony its qualified expert witness Arik Van Zandt. (CP 852 at ¶¶ 8, 9.) Mr. Van Zandt evaluated Aptly's historical financial information—including monthly invoices, contract amounts, statements of work, and profit and loss statements—to establish Aptly's lost profits on the Bing Answers project. (RP 737:19-738:7.) The Court of Appeals properly affirmed, consistent with *Larsen*. (Appx. 1 at 8-10.) The Court of Appeals' opinion is not in conflict with any decision of this Court.

#### B. <u>Petitioners Identify No Published Court of Appeals'</u> Decision that is in Conflict.

There is no published Court of Appeals' decision in conflict with the Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion in this case and Petitioners identify none. (*See generally* Pet. for Review.)

## C. <u>This Case Presents No Significant Constitutional Question.</u>

Petitioners make no argument that any significant question of law is presented under the Constitutions of the

United States or the State of Washington. There is no such question presented in this case. RAP 13.4(b)(3) is inapplicable.

#### D. <u>Petitioners Present No Issue of Substantial Public</u> <u>Interest.</u>

Petitioners make misrepresentations to the Court regarding what the trial court did or did not find. There were no findings by the trial court that Aptly's owner, Rosa Li committed perjury. Petitioners cite Washington Civil Rule 56 (g), but the trial court's order on summary judgment was not appealed. This is an appeal following trial.

Aptly's misappropriation of trade secrets claim was not made in bad faith and the Court of Appeals' recognition of that fact does not raise any issues of substantial public interest.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny Petitioner's Petition for Review.

I certify this document contains 776 words in compliance with RAP 18.17.